9 YuIWMYILIIV



VISY "1amilipn "¢ 180D o %UCQ\.’._OA:OU ¥led awolar 21|

JI10X MIN ‘Xuoigq
dIOAYIASHY MMUVd dINOYHATIlN LV

e

n s ) %5 .-.1&1@5.....@
i :

. St
- bl b wg 1 e o
PN g

- —— —_— — S —

NAVd NVEIN MIN V. d04d NODISAA

L yaamygoely



SANUBAY LIPNOY PUR JOAISSOY J8 § Ishal sjay |8 szeyd pasodorg

T

S3SN [BUOIIEDNPE PUE |BUONEDIOR] afernooua
o1 paufisap san1anoe pue sweiSoid
MU YA JHIOAIISH 9U) JO UOHIDUNS FY)  »
seze)d pue sYIed ‘S0 MU YN AIS P .

JImni g

190panby 10101 PIO PAYRWIDUR] Y .
3ABMUIRID XUOG PUE A1) NIOK MON o

spraty Suikeld pue sxaed orgnd waselpe .
sjooyas Sumuiofpe pue sauunwwod uIpunoims .
:0) sweiBousd puw sezed ‘syied yied

yuay

1Mem pur pomauols ‘AydeiSodo;
‘aamaanyae Ay Twsodxa Ag sacvmyd JOIIG SN .
sazmanns £reiodura) pue 20U3) Y| UTeYd
13110 3Y) SB YIS SIS 33| -yledun (e
Busaowal Ag sumieu 9% yled Enuossa s .

-asodand pue adedspue] Jo 1ade] mau

v
172494 B )M JI0AIISAT AY) JOo Lnvaq ) swwsf 0) pue
aamonnsegut Addns samem . Apununuoy Fuypunosans ay) oy yred ) uym

SAAMINS .
1S Juos pue ww.._m >u_u._w_ﬁ“w_“ : sjuas3 pue sadeld ap yuy o ‘adeds oqqnd e se
ooeds uado o fenuajod s [9242.1 0) ‘30UISS? ILIOYSIY S FaLasaid

24455044 07 aue yaed ay) Joj uSisap ayy Jo sHuAWaIR ?M

AIdVd NVEIN MHAN V 404 NDISAd




Suapivh Auunuruos pup J004IS SIRNIN YDIYM G ABoja] egn sooping aul Buimous enusy uapmop Buoie werd wed o reiag
TOOHS R WODRTD LS

8bpo s, 1819m oY1 18 S(IRM Aluoeew suys Bujmoys GRLGAY HOARTOY MO(aY BoAl|
198115 Y160Z PUR INUIAY USPINOD 1R G BSNOY 3)8H S5 S 1) [lem uo)s payds-Ap Bunsig ug o feeg

- T

‘paAstasaad

3] p[ROYS SEISIA JUIDS PUE *AINJIRTISEJUI
‘SISNOYRIES *HIOMIUOIS §If *SAINIINIIS

LI0JS|Y PazIuB033a Jo ureyd Buoj HNU-gf

SIY Uy JUI[ 3WISSIUK 313 S| JJOAIISIY WAL FWaIaf

“HOAIISIY g [8Nu))

Y1 01 A7) U030 JE SIsSTOyIIES ) woly
‘poraewspue] useq Apeaape sey wa)sis uojoa)) ay)
JO IO "SIJELJ IIOISIH JO 1335130y [RUONEN 1)
Ul UOISTIAR 10 J]QI3N]2 J50AIIEA AIHUI ) PUNO}
AfIU3021 UOKHBAIISATY HIOISIH puB U01E3AIIY
‘SHIed Jo 2O LIS NI0K MaN 3y ,H._

N PIILIOY I

\zo:<mmolmmn.z<zo
NOILVAYASAEd ONIL

|

LVONaAd
UOTLNT

|<r—-



uejd JustuIral) Mea s aqnedwoedn s eiuauepun)
aae yaed e ao) suepd <11 )R PAPNPUGH SRY ADUBAIISUOT) NIEJ WOLI[ I ]

sArmusaln Xudlg pus
Q1D 30X, MaN JO JIoMIak
Ap pug ﬂaou._on_—_m_o__

st *oped juadeipe

YA J10AII5AT 1) FAU[

“ANRUNGIOY

A pue 43 Y1 JO spIau
Lmuata(dwiod 2yy $ass1ppe
yowa uepd £innoas

pue sdueusjureu e dojeascy

NP JAH[I0 pUe Spatq
Jo 2ouzsaid sy ;owoug

“fiuspaus |220] OO’ ST W
1o 2210083l [BUONBINDS
UB 58 JII0AIIS alf

Suisn 1oj ueid e dojaasg

J9U2 4301003

UE PUE JJBT IPIS-INEM

B 58 yans ‘sasnoy aef
ay) 10 sasn maur dojaas

*STISIA JIAIS ) INUBYUD
LY PASA4 “SPUNOW
1eaido[0ad oy plie uonwig
Suiduing snusay swassp ap
'535N0Y T Y *sjrem uoks
a1y Autpngul ‘HOANISIY
ed WOIE PUNOTE SaInes)
JLI0ISTY S AW0ISTY

Busnofjoj a1y uo paseq yaed amne-gz[ € e 0) Juisodoad 5y

‘aoeds arjgnd -uorenydonna

M3U s jo uonesado Iaem Suiproak
I 10} suone[ngu JO SpoyIaws punos
pue s3|nt 3y yerq Afjea13ojoas dopaasg

sed Buypodo puw BujBSol Bupmoys anueay yoalesey
mojeq eppuswoid epszelem pasodold

'SALAUB] SB Yons 'S

"saoeds

aaueunopad pue s8uniayed
arjqnd ‘suapred Arununucs

1oj sease dojeaa(]
“Bunjsed

aanewage Joj suefd dojaaa]

.u—_m._ﬁ judulean Ierem

1o1id Kreodiss) s, uona9jaLg
[ewsuuaIAug Jo Jusungedad

ay) pure Suipjing pue
10} Supyred weunys] 21 se
yons *Bunes 43U S

o1 111,10 YEY) SUMINNS

10 s3IMea) Aue A0y

‘sued afeqred M.E ‘s
uiysiol
Yied splactd ‘ssex
pUe $13A00-pUNQIF ‘SQrIys
puE $391) [QIUARWIO Yel

“speuswcsd B 57
Iem Surpiaip sy doPaagg

"HOAJIS 2] PUNOIE S|ie)]
mn_m&u. Jo/pue Junexs
*guiddol *Buryiem s

23ua) K19fes uoN-YSnoim
aANIRNIE UE Yl

1aem a1 Aq auo ay) aoe[das
PUR 22U3) 1SN ) 2A0WSY

:souipepn8 udsep Areujurpaad

AIULAIISUOY) NI SWOIIf Y],

Jayem Suif[ddns 1o pap3du aq J95uo] OU [[LA J10AIIS3Y YiBgd AueIaf Jo paed so je jeyp jqissod

st 31 pue wysAs Ajddns Jogem a1 woay paaowsas Julaq ST I0ALSHY I8 jenua)) 3y ], SwSueyp
U3 SBY SATOAIISIE ASHY) )0 JO 2SN Y} ‘Padalfy 2 JFBM TO0JOI)) I8} PAITPUBUI IABY SIUINUIA0S
[8I2P3] PUE 2L)S ISNBIIYG “HOAIISIY I8 [B1IUI)) Y} (A UONIUN) SIY) PITeYs I A[FUadal

IRU[] “WNSAS JOIEM UWOT0I]) 9] 10] SJI0AIISIT HOIINQLIISIP OM] JO U0 S1 JI0AIISIY A8 NUOND .—”-

-

IONITIWOD SI HONVHD




BNUBAY JIOAISEOY WOI) $99UD) syt yBNOIYL MIIA

‘S[fesm auo)s pajjeld L[[njaaed

JO 531198 € Aq paJapIoq SI pUB SI|TW

OM) JO DUAIJWNIILD B SBY JI)em Jo L{poq
alde-pg 2yl -08e sieak paapuny sue uedSag
JI0AJISIY Y18 3WOII[ Y} JO UOIIINIISUO))

SNUBAY J|OAISTIY WOI) LISEG WIAYINOS I JO MaA

R

i PASWI) MO NIopaLd
G681 ‘P0G O} S.000I353Y fO UONDIPY P43 UG
'UIFT 3G ADIU DODLINS SI PIUIYM LCAIITAI D OGD
ansopous ayr o) $53000 dypgnd Sud sof spow uo Liaa s1 usisinosd 1o
pazrudooas jra of 53 angnd aw 03 anjoa sy pup “Supysafar pup wfimoag 51
LT fo (pOg 1 "Supas 40 Fume 5 fo ssepppial fiam up - Rqoioan apmu
G und 1) uays apgnd 241 o1 an)oa Jpai8 Jo Sunyi o Kupaya st 0 pue ‘s 23.0)
D J0 payeasd 51 it asaye “sysod stpgnd u sadaspuoy duvw fo 2inioaf By ap
S1af prAuage DS STy Y damma Suprnds papd o ssupdye up fo 1oyt Koy
‘paffs adoxspunt fo uaue wo u21om Surioss fo Lnonb [p1assa oy
O UOIIPDD U1 *PADY ‘PRII0D 3 01 §EROUD JDIuS I50Y) 1A0ND ‘S0 Iy

dew uojjean] £33 Niox MEN

‘ajdoad

JO SpuBsSNOY] Jo suat aalas pinom jred
i URQIN MIU S{Y) ‘PaIBaId 23U ‘I[QISSIIDE
Airenba i1 ayew 0y ueid & padojsaap

SBY AJUBAIISUO)) NI JWOII[ ay] pue
Injpne2q sk 003 3] “YIRJ SWEOLI[ - AJOAIISII

A

w ﬁ. A0 5. HI0X MIN SI XuoJg 1S3amylriou
§ %nxiiu&gsu ay) uy 3IPLX ¥ 0O SIDUIJ PUFYIQ UIPPIY-)eH
m \ *ya8d & Jo ISpitu Ay} Wi puUe I|qISSIdIE
m ._.S ot oo svaiay ‘INJIINEaq $,11 ISUBII JI0AIISIY
w \ Ha8d [BAIUIY) Y} IAO| SAINJIOY Md .Z

JIOAYHASHY JMIUVd HINOYATS



ROPOT HAOR MIN ‘XUOL « JSIAN PICAINOG YIBJ PIOJPIY ST » HI0K MO\ Jo LJsTaaiun A1) ayy jo
a8aj10) urwWYY' | "H MPYAIH « JUDPISDLJ M) JO YYD U/ « AJUEAIISUOY) NP A0 Y|

BIRIIA T AN 101BUSS

WNg ‘f AU} JIUOISSIUOD)
100Iqess ALIeT JOIBUSS

3 “ZinY (SIS URWNIDUAOT
Zaluey OLaqOy vPwK|quiassy
V0TI [EIIRUMOLAYT JO usunrda] -T'd IS ‘SIRNA "V [0 JAUDISSTUIES,)
JWYNP] 'S ZURIY JOJBUSS

um)y Aarysr vewd|quassy

“If ‘ZO[BZUOL) UMBY)Y JOJEUSS

131334 OpURILIZ (uapisald ySnalog

198ug - 100 uewssaSuo))

PUE[SIT "jA JUN{ URDOM[IIUNDD)

U0IE2IIIY PUR SR JO Juswedag

ZUMOUI AMYI[ UewAjguIassy
[PUNCY Sy 3L “3010N1J ANNIIXT NOOD Y Pegeziig
K191008 uoqnpny JI0x MIN “HIpISId ding piaeg
slaquagy paeog Jupiop-uoN 0§21J0-XH
JIoAISSY X1ed “MUIpISAG upedez vowrey
fooydg ydt uom) MG *frdiatlig " 12(SYIS UBTILION]
Stamo] aooE._. ‘Yuapisay JojAay Auof
Swisnoy [emnpy 11015 U]
WIpEsIY PUBIS NIRd
WIPLSIY I9p1S BlpeEg
SIRMOL, 11008 “USPISA] ouunwey Auopuy
8 "ON prEOg ANUNWIUGD) ‘NEYD 1104 M2q0Y
) Hnmwwe) syiiay 28puqssury ui[ySno ol A
£191208 UOHEAIIZUOD) ITP{LM “bsg *maop Wof
uapey) [EIUEIOR HOL MAN JuSpIsaly BuoT LoBan
£ ‘OpN preog ANUNLMO?) ‘Ney’) 914 UJOOH RuRo]
Aieq 1pUR[LIOT) U JO SPUSLY ‘Neq)y pund Anoifay
JAUDY) [ENPIA] CUINO JuSpIsUY ‘"I ‘vewuo] 13ouadg
L “ON preog ANunwiwo)) 'sien) Ainad wioN
speduy jo £pe ang Aeay) suuayie) Arepy asig

uoIRI2DsSY JUuHuIAOSdWIL
pooyoquieN siydioy aBpuqs3ury wepissid umuidey)) |y
2502158 JO j00ysS YBIH ¥ualg ‘fediouug uRIsUSN| g velg
58 °§¢ "Edisurg OpreuRg UOpRYS
woneIY SqaIBjy pisog
Suisnol parewedfelly Juspisaty Suiuueyy ayeA pa

diysraquisiy *[eydiso, Leq
UONEATISAG *“3f ‘PIOJWIOY LAqOY
suone|ay onqnd ‘sdjaud paz]
IINSEA] ‘UOOos Way

IUIT) JEHPIIA] MO0

U0, YSB], SHTERIpuUe xuolg

ANND 283100 vewya]

uoﬂ_EEOU SMATRY SINIUMALOT) Tiof ..:.S—U
1uepisay

uap1say JUSpISaL] ‘taen) LB FUUY
ANND *38af0)) wewya uapisald URMINEY) *ZIPURIEIS] OpIEDLY
uoneIfy v IANWUWOD) IAINIIXT

L661 SHOLOIYIA JO AUYO4

Amauseg ‘nualry usiey

“yied joypneaq

B OJUf J3EM JO £ Apmpiogaxa

¥ WIOJSUES) 0} 5] AJURAIISUC) HiEg
W0 Y Jo wossiw arg sngy, *jaed

B 20} UOISIA 570 YA PUE ‘SaTpuUnIIUIo)
SuIpunoLIns g} pUR JOATISIT M)
Bupsaasaad jo speod sy yuam aqpediuodu)
51 Apjoey B yons jey) uolsed a1f) yom
Apnonnueun £3uUBAJ35U07) 91t ‘puvyd

a) o wonisoddo Ayunuwimiod 0) asuodsaa

uy '39A3M0H *JuBpd JNIWNEAN) JIJEM

pasodoad ) 0y paeSal yym BONU
AHeIHu) sem AoUeAIISTHOY) ],

“AIUeAIISUG) NG I0J B

3y} e sAPPING udsap S Wy
pus “ysed 7 Jo uopeaas ay) parroddns
[RUNCD SHIBG L], “0AIISH

2Y) JO UINUOpUERE [2K0] 10 [eRpiwd

® Jo Ayjiqsssod aqy wioy pus

‘RIB4 Aworf uy Juvld JuanILal) JEm
€ pling 0} uol20lg jejuauuoljany
o yuarapaedag A1) IO maN o)

Aq [esodoad ayy 01 uopgsoddo jo no
asoae yaed Ueqan mau & J0) eaps ]

a8pe s Japem Ny Aq s{o0YRs

PUIE OYm SIUIPNIS 000°ST Y 20)
22UIN05 [EUOHIEIND? UR ST J0AIIS Af)
J0 35N 21} pue Ylewpue; HINS[Y pe

IS B 58 1j0AI0SY B WS A JO

uonvuBsIp I3 SHEI0APE ADUBAIISUO))
L], °) PUNOIE PUE] ) PUR JBM 3N}

Jo pasiadwior Rred axe-g7| € Jo UoneIID>

aY) Aq sepunuures Supumorms )
PUE 1[0AT53Y YIBJ SWolaf jo adeyitay
pue Ainvaq Y] aosaad o) paulio)
sem {HUBAIISUO)) WIBJ JWIOID[ Y|,

HS04ddNd 40 LNAWILVLS

AIDNVAYHASNOD d¥YVd HINOYIl AHL




.-@ s d | - = . ] LT = s = - , o - L
_ﬂv .ﬂ;&ﬁ.ﬂhwi " . ! . ' 3 i - g o Y Y P A samam il (g paa) mrpt J.I__.
¥ ORI Sy Fot Wiy (Eymg B . i’ ;- A i b - -~ Sl Rax Jv Cxidmpw;r L3 HINRD RPWYIT G gl |
Ay ey L] WYy Y i y [ ) . 3 FHened frmestersd o arsedog QL) yuL 50N

- .._”hm._w. [ maemppdd pw |

1 g b ' 13 fe i g 19 o . 2 Sl i
; Bt - - : == § - VIEY TR 3 NS
: AISHOD W vd EMORYT




Celebrate on
September 22nd

The Jerome Park
Conservancy will hold
an event at Fort
Independence Park
(entrances on
Sedgwick Avenue at
Giles Place and
Hillman Avenue) on
Saturday, September
22at 11 a.m. State
Parks Conmmissioner
Bernadette Castro will
be the guest of honor.
A model of a bronze
plague, which com-
memorates the
reservoir’s history, will
be unveiled,

Ms. Castro was named
head of the New York
State Office of Parks,
Recreation and
Historic Preservation
in 1994, a year after
selling the family’s
furniture business,
She now runs an
agency with 1,600
employees maintain-
ing 161 state parks, 36
historic sites, and 17
heritage areas,
aftracting 65 million
visitors annually. #

Attachment 8

A partial view of rhe 30-foot h:gh two-nile Iong stone wall that encircles Jerome Park Reserva:r The Old
Croton Aqueduct, a national historic landmark, runs through it.

Jerome Park Honored by State and Nation

erome Park won listing on the State and
National Registers of Historic Places last
year, On September 22nd, the Jerome Park
Conservancy will celebrate this honor and
thank New York State Parks Commissioner
Bernadette Castro for her leadership in obtaining
this recognition.

The newly honored district includes the
reservoir and all of its structures, Harris Park
(west of Goulden), the Lehman College parking
lot, Fort Four Park, and Fort Independence Park.

The reservoir was built between 1895 and
1906 by Italian stonemasons. It was the culmina-
tion of the magnificent Croton waterworks,
which has been called the eighth wonder of the
world. The Croton water supply system includes
more than a dozen dams in Westchester and
Putnam Counties, two 40-mile long brick
aqueducts, and two distributing reservoirs—one
in Jerome Park and the other in Central Park.
The Croton system is probably the largest

masonry structure ever built by man.

The Jerome Park Reservoir played a critical role
in the development of the Bronx and New York
City. The streets surrounding it were designed by
Frederick Law Olmsted, who also designed Central
and Prospect Parks. The Old Croton Aqueduct,
which is a National Historic Landmark, runs
through two of the gatehouses and along its entire
eastern edge.

Outstanding among those who helped vs gain
this recognition is Robert Kornfeld, Jr., chair of the
Conservancy's Preservation Committee, who spent
years researching the reservoir’s history, our local
community boards, elected officials, and city-wide
preservation organizations. But without the work of
Commissioner Bernadette Castro and her staff,
Jerome Park would not have achieved this honor.

The Conservancy will soon begin educating the
community, schools, and city officials about the
significance of Jerome Park, laying the foundation
for its full preservation and restoration. #



GreenStreets Opens
‘Croton Aqueduct Triangle’

concrete island in the street at the
Asouthern tip of the Jerome Park

Reservoir has been transformed.
Officially named the “Croton Aqueduct
Triangle,” it's now part of the GreenStreets
Program of the New York City Department
of Parks. A ribbon-cutting ceremony with
Parks Commissioner Henry Stern was held
on May 8.

The Jerome Park Conservancy officially
requested the new GreenStreet site in 1999,
Among those instrumental in its creation
were Commissioner Henry Stern, Bronx
Parks Commissioner Bill Castro, City
Council member Adolfo Carrion, and
GreenStreets Program Director Gail

Wittwer-Laird, who designed the site as well

as the Conservancy's 1994 plan for Jerome
Park. The “Croton Aqueduct Triangle” has
been adopted by Mark Stern, an active
member of the Conservancy’s Education
Committee and a science teacher at Walton
High School. Students from Walton High
Scheol and the Kingsbridge Heights
Neighborhood Improvement Association
will provide for its maintenance.

The new GreenStreet is located directly
above the Old Croton Aqueduct where it
emerges from the reservoir at Goulden
Avenue, across from Lehman College and
Walton High School. The site includes a
brick cross-section of the Aqueduct, filled
with blue flowers. Other plantings include
river birches, inkberry bushes, Virginia
sweet spite, and a ring of ginkgo trees.
Conservancy Board member Karen Argenti
suggested naming the site.

The beautification project received some
press. Photos of the ceremony appeared in
Bronx papers and in the Friends of the Old
Croton Aqueduct newsletter. Walton
teachers Mark Stern and Judith Rock
appeared on the cable TV program Bronx
Talk (Channel 67, Lehman College) with
horticulture student Luz Vasquez. They
talked about the GreenStreet site and the
unique history of the Old Croton Aqueduct.

Another group of students, from John F.
Kennedy High School, got into the neigh-
borhood beautification spirit on Earth Day
2001. They cleaned a portion of the edge of
the reservoir and planted flowers near Fort
Independence Park.

At the GreenStreets ribbon-cutting cevemony: (1-r) Dart Westphal of the Jerome Park Conser-
vancy, Conservancy Chairman Ricardo R. Ferndndez, NYC Parks Commissioner Henry Stern,
Walton High School teacher Mark Stern, designer and GreenStreets Director Gail Wittwer-
Laird, Conservancy secretary Karen Argents, and Bronx Parks Commissioner William Castro,

A Brief History of the Old Croton Aqueduct

New York City had contaminated its fresh water streams and wells by the mid-1830s when
it decided to dam the Croton River in Westchester County and build a brick agueduct
from Yorktown to a reservoir at Fifth Avenue and 42nd Street in Manhattan. In the
Bronx, the aqueduct passes through what is now Van Cortlandt Park, along the eastern
edge of Jerome Park Reservoir, under the Croton Aqueduct GreenStreet, and down
Aqueduct Avenue, before crossing into Manhattan over the High Bridge.

The City celebrated completion of the project in 1842 when Croton water started
flowing. Because the population was expanding so rapidly, the City almost immediately
needed more water and started building more dams and the New Croton Aqueduct. The
Old and New Croton Aqueducts intersect at Jeromne Park Reservoir, which opened in 1906
as a reservoir park. The Old Croton Aqueduct is a National Historic Landmark.

DEP Cleanup Around Reservoir

hanks to efforts by the Membership

Committee of the Jerome Park
Conservancy, Community Boards 7 and &,
City Councilwoman June Eisland, and
Bronx Borough President Fernando Ferrer,
the New York City Department of Environ-
mental Protection has let a contract for a
weekly cleanup around the perimeter of the
Jerome Park Reservoir. The Conservancy
appreciates the assistance and encourages
the DEP to make sure the cleanups are
taking place every week.

Kudos to Connmon Cents Kids

eighborhaod school children have

been raising money for the Jerome
Park Conservancy through Common
Cents, a national organization that
encourages philanthropy in children.
Students at PS/MS 95 raised $550 and
students at PS 340 raised $250. (For more
information, visit www.conumoencents.org.)

The Jerome Park Conservancy Preservation
Report and the National Register nomination
are available at www.lehman. cuny_edw/
preservationreport



Jerome Park Conservancy Members and Contributors

Many thanks to the people who joined the Conservancy, and to those who contributed to our cleanup fund;

Ruth K. Abrahams

Alice Adams & William Gordy
Sylvia Anderson

Anonymous {via Sonia Lappin)
Karen Argenti

William & Bella Bader

Susan Bader

Iohn Bagovic

Juliet and Max Baker

Linda Baldwin/Adolfo Carrion, Ir.
Charles F. Baroo

Louis & Mary Bazzicalupo
Darnley & Deborah Beckles
Ellis & Phyllis Bell

Martin & Caryl Bernstein
Sandi & Harv Besofsky

Mr. & Mrs, J. Billington

Ann Black

Hilda Bobson

joan & Leo Boriss

Zelda & Murray Buder
Christopher & Ellen Butler
Mary & Bill Carroll

Nikola & Lucy Celic

Jerry Cofta

Hyman & Irene Cohen

Selma & [rwin Cohen
Charlotte Cohen

Elzine & Stanley Cohen
Selma & Irwin Cohen

Valerie Colon

Elizabeth Cooke

Carmela Curasi

Sitvia Davidson

George & Barbara Dodsworth
Margaret Drago

Friends of June Eisland

Sylvia & Louis Ellman

' PLEASE BE AS GENEROUS AS YOU CAN BE.
MEMBERSHIP DUES: _____ $10 minimum per household

Please complete the
membership form and
return it with your check to:

Jerome Park Conservancy
3965 Sedgwick Avenue, #1C
Bronx, NY 10463

Phone Fax 718-884-7864

ADDITIONAL CONTRIBUTION $

Charlotte & Stanley Fahn
Ethe] & Alexander Farkas
Shirley Feinstein
Ronald & Nelva Ferguson
Ricardo Fernandez
Solomon & Sadie Feuer
Leo Finkel
Glenn Fleischman
Cynthia & David Florman
Isadare Forman
Pearl Sidransky Friedman
Ann Garti
Anne Marie Garti
Vanda Garti
Lester & Martha Getzoff
Anita & Milton Gill
hm & Connie Gilmore
Fred & Barbara Glickenstein
Etta & Al Goldbaum
Susan & Stan Goldman
Martin Goldray
Lowell & Max Green
Kelly Griffin
Robert & Lillian Gumerove
Siridator Khalsa &

Kevin Harrington
Emita B. Hil}
Bernice Hoffman
Jerome & Vera Holzman
Ina Juretschke
Josh & Norma Justin
Andrea Kahn & David Hess
Stephen & Suzanne Kaplan
Jeanette L. Kaplan
Philip Kaplan
Patricia & Monrcoe Karetzky
Abraham & Evelyn Katz
Martin & Renee Katz

Q /we would like to join the Jerome Park Conservancy. My chack for $

Name

Address

Rose & Bill Kerr

Esther Kimmerling

Andy & Leslie Kimmerling

Kingsbridge Heights
Community Center

Donna Kirchheimer

Beatrice & Arnold Klein

Celia & Robert Kornfeld, Sr.

Vida Kossoff

Dominick Laperta

Sonia Lappin

Alice Lavin

Miriam Leal

I. Charles Levenberg

Lewis Levin

Lee & Robert Levine

Ben & Aleine Levine

Lillian Levine

Diana & David Levy

Vialet Lewit

Leonard Lipshitz

Mary Lukomnik

Marion Marcus

Melvin & Annabell Marden

Mary & John McLoughlin

Alex & Dorothy Miller

Gertrude Miller

Eva Miot

Mosholu Preservation Corporation

Lois-Ann Myers

Richard & Susan O’Brien

Lyla & Bernard Olshan

Louis & Roseann Pappas

Jack 8 Berta Parker

Rebecca Patt & Joseph Cohen

Anne Perryman

Fred & Jane Phelps

Rita & Michael Pietrangolare

PARK CONSERVANCY MEMBERSHIP

Marjory & Joseph Piscitello
Alvin & Elsie Plotkin
Aaron & Rhoda Plum
Galina Polyakova

Ruth & Jerry Rheiner
Majorie Ritzer

Daisy & Geraldo Rivera
Bess Rosenfeld

May Rothseid

Alan & Irene Saks
Josephine Sapienza
Bernice & Steven Schecter
Mina Schienberg

Phyllis Schnur

Howard & Anna Schoffel
Frank & Jean Schonfeid
Bernice Schwartz

Scott Tower Senior Citizens Club
Maureen Scully

Miriam Siegel

Rose Slotkin

Evelyn Smalls

Leonard & Helen Smith
Esther & Leon Sokolsky
Vicki & Ken Solomon
Helen Sotlingas
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Attachment 9

Public Access at the Jerome Park Reservoir
Anne Marie Garti, President
Jerome Park Conservancy
Croton Filtration Monitoring Committee Meeting
June 19, 2008

History of Jerome Park Reservoir
A Designed as a reservoir park in the late 19” century

OOow

=

Surrounding streets were designed by Frederick Law Olmsted

Original design for reservoir may have also been by Olmsted

Integrated with community until WWII

Aesthetics: water, hand crafted stone walls, and elegant wrought iron fences
125-acres of reservoir and surrounding land listed on the State and National
Registers of Historic Places in 2000

Would cost billions of dollars to build now

Jerome Park Conservancy

O
A

w

Cr

. Formed in 1994

A
B. Mission - to preserve and enhance the Jerome Park Reservoir
C.
b
E

Raised over $100,000 to create consensus on park plan

. Unifying design guideline is the waterside path

Prior DEP Commissioners were committed to public access

perational and Security Issues and Solutions
. Use of reservoir is changing

Only unfiltered (raw) water will be stored at Jerome Park.
It will mainly be used as a back-up supply and to relieve water pressure.
Ifthe water stored in the Jerome Park Reservoir is used at all, it will have 1o go
through the filtration plant first. This will take many hours, not minutes.
The DEP allows people to walk and fish at the Kensico Reservoir, which is closer
to people’s faucets than Jerome Park.
To ensure security with public access:
* Keep the outer security fence with guard(s)
* Require DEP permits and photo ID
* Check bags
* Test for poisons at the filtration plant
For operational concerns;
No hazardous chemicals will be used or stored at the reservoir, so the DEP
should be able to perform any required operations with public access.
* For over 100 years the DEP maintained the Central Park Reservoir while
1000s of people ran around it every day.
Temporarily deny public access if major repairs are needed.



Flow of Water to Jerome Park Reservoir
With the Croton Water Treatment Plant

New Croton Aqueduct Key to symbols

{}  Unfiltered Water

$  Filtered Water

JPR for pressure
release, or to plant
to filter water

in the reservoir

Water flow ¢
Filtration Plant lT arer How to

/\

Filtered water never enters

Jerome Park Reservoir
Jerome Park
Reservoir

Filtered water
to distribution
system
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PREFACE

This draft report is intended to raise awareness of the beauty, significance and history of the
Jerome Park Reservoir, and to support the Jerome Park Conservancy’s call for the reservoir to
be landmarked and preserved. While the reservoir is well known and has received much
publicity in recent years, its history is relatively obscure. A considerable amount of primary
research was necessary. Documentation included a survey of the basin, when the reservoir
was drained for maintenance, in order to photograph the magnificent stone structures that are
normally submerged, and whose images have never been published. Whiie much additional
research remains to be performed, 1 believe that this report provides a new perspective on the
history of the Croton system and its relation to the development of New York City.

When I was selected to be the Chairman of the Preservation Committee of the Jerome Park
Conservancy, I was generally familiar with the Croton Aqueduct System, but knew little about
the Jerome Park Reservoir. [ thought of the reservoir as somewhat historic, not terribly
significant, and not that old -- probably a common view. What sparked my interest was a bus
tour, on a rainy day in 1995, led by Gail Wittwer and Anne Marie Garti. The world that 1
saw from the bus window looked like a forgotten Frederick Law Olmsted andscape, and [
vowed to myself that I would discover what I was looking at, why it was there, and who
designed it.

What [ subsequently learned, in my search for the history of the Jerome Park Reservoir, was
nothing short of a revelation about the reservoir, the Croton Waterworks, and the history of
New York City itself. The historic and architectural significance of the Jerome Park Reservoir
has been grossly underestimated, and its prominence in the history of the Croton Aqueduct
system has not been acknowledged. Originally planned in 1875, and designed and constructed
over the following thirty years, it was one of the major works of the Croton Aqueduct system,
located at the confluence of the Old and New Croton Aqueducts. It is the largest and most
significant body of water in the Borough of the Bronx.

There was a longstanding reluctance on the part of the city to build the Jerome Park Reservoir,
and a residual hostility whose vestiges are still reflected in the proposal for converting the
reservoir into an industrial water treatment plant. Remarkably, this hostility appears to have
had its roots in the friction between the engineers of the Croton Aqueduct Department and the
Tweed Ring that took it over in 1870. In fact, the Aqueduct Commissioners, who designed
the reservoir, were formed in the 1880’s largely to take control of the design and construction
of the New Croton Aqueduct away from the corrupt Department of Public Works.

I also learned that Frederick Law Olmsted designed a comprehensive city plan for the west
Bronx, that most of the streets surrounding the Jerome Park Reservoir were constructed
exactly as designed by Olmsted, and that he may well have had a role in the design of the
reservoir itself. Olmsted fought with corrupt city officials who he felt were undermining his
plan for the annexed territory that was to become the Bronx. He was dismissed in 1878.

The title for a local history might be The Bronx at 100: a Century of Broken Dreams. The



west Bronx, with the finest natural landscape in the city, and a street plan and park system
founded by Olmsted, remains beautiful despite its legacy of misrule and misuse. An alternate
title might be Olmsted’s Bronx: Forgotten but not Gone.

The plan to convert Jerome Park Reservoir into a water treatment plant is a direct product of
the mid-twentieth century planning mentality that led to the Cross Bronx Expressway and other
destructive mega-projects. In the mid-1980's, the low point of Bronx history, the Department
of Environmental Protection began construction of a new dividing wall for the now-defunct
filtration plant scheme in the north basin. Part of this project was the needless demolition of
an 1890’s-vintage arched stone bridge in the reservoir. Plans also called for demolishing all of
the stone gate houses and portions of the Old Croton Aqueduct, a National Historic Landmark.
It is ironic in an era when we are witnessing a masterfu! restoration of Grand Centra] Station
and the rebirth of Central Park, that attitudes towards Jerome Park remain in the mind-set that
led to the destruction of Penn Station,

The historical, architectural and cultural significance of the Jerome Park Reservoir and the
surrounding parks and communities is indisputable. No form of mitigation could offset the
devastating impact of the proposed water treatment plant on the historic resources of the
reservoir and the surrounding community. In this centennial of the city’s consolidation, New
Yorkers should finally recognize this neglected masterpiece: designate the Jerome Park
Reservoir a landmark, and drop it from consideration as the site for a water treatment plant. I
hope that future generations will be able to enjoy the Jerome Park Reservoir along with the
High Bridge and the New Croton Dam, the other great landmarks of the Croton Waterworks
system along Old Croton Aqueduct Trailway.

Robert J. Kornfeld, Ir. AIA
Chairman, Preservation Committee
Jerome Park Conservancy



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report from the Preservation Committee of the Jerome Park Counservancy describes the
role of the Jerome Park Reservoir in the Croton water supply and its place in the history of
New York City. The City’s expanding need for water and the endless controversies over how
to supply it are covered in the report, as is the dedication of the men who designed the Croton
system.

The Oid Croton Aqueduct was built between 1837 and 1842. It was a unique stone and brick
structure that stretched 40 miles, from a dam on the Croton River to a reservoir on 42nd
Street. But within a few years of its completion, it could not adequately supply water to the
exploding population of the City.

The City’'s campaign to increase the water supply included the construction of the Central Park
Reservoir, the High Bridge Tower and Reservoir, and many storage reservoirs and dams in
Westchester and Putnam Counties. It was cailed the Croton Waterworks Extension.

In 1874 New York City annexed a large portion of southern Westchester, from the Bronx
River west to the Hudson. (It became part of the Borough of the Bronx in 1898.) The NYC
Department of Public Parks selected Frederick Law Olmsted, landscape architect, and J.J.R.
Croes, civil and topographical engineer, to prepare a comprehensive design for the new area.
Their plan, completed in 1878, was adopted by the city and was largely constructed as
designed.

In 1875, in response to the renewed threat of water shortages, plus the need for a water supply
system for the new district, the Croton Waterworks Extension was expanded to include plans
for an additional aqueduct and a new distributing reservoir: the New Croton Aqueduct and
Jerome Park Reservoir. They were to be interconnected with the Old Croton Aqueduct in the
newly acquired territory, for which Olmsted was developing a master plan.

In 1895 Italian immigrant stonemasons began building the Jerome Park Reservoir. They
positioned the two agueducts within the thirty-foot thick stone retaining wall that runs down
the eastern edge of the reservoir, and constructed a number of thirty-foot-high stone
gatehouses that are reminiscent of ancient Roman structures. Their work was completed in
1906.

In its original design, Jerome Park Reservoir was to be over twice as large as it is today and
was to include two islands and a peninsula. [t was to serve as a final settling-basin for Croton
water, and, according to the Chief Engineer, “will add greatly to the attractiveness of the
surrounding grounds.” There is even reason to believe that Olmsted had a hand in Jerome
Park’s design.

However, the reservoir’s construction was beset by friction between the Aqueduct
Comunissioners and the Bureau of Water Supply, Gas and Electricity. While the
Commissioners were gearing up to complete Jerome Park Reservoir as the final masterpiece of



the Croton system, the Bureau, in 1907, requested permission to install slow sand filters in the
east basin. In the end, plans for the east basin, the sand filters, and the magnificent gatehouse
superstructures were set aside.

When the Jerome Park Reservoir opened, it was a reservoir-park and, 10 complete the
overal} landscaping, city parks were established around it. Old Fort Four Park and Fort
Independence Park were created on the sites of Revolutionary War forts and have retained
their picturesque natural topography and spectacular views across the water. Harris Park
and Harris Park Annex provided a green border for the eastern edge of the water.

Jerome Park Reservoir was designed and built amidst controversy and is the focus of a bitter
one today. The Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), like the Bureau of Water
Supply, Gas and Electricity that preceded it, is proposing to build a filtration plant in the
reservoir. However, unlike the natural sand filters that were under consideration earlier in
this century, the current filtration plant would be filled with gigantic machines and hazardous
chemicals.

The surrounding community unanimously opposes the DEP’s plan. And the Conservancy not
only joins in this opposition but also advocates the designation of Jerome Park Reservoir, with
all of its architectural and landscape features, as a New York City Landmark. The reservoir
should also be listed on the State and National Register of Historic Places. The entire Croton
system has been deemed eligible for landmarking, and Jerome Park Reservoir is the only
major element of the system, within the City’s boundaries, that has not yet been designated a

city landmark.

The Jerome Park Reservoir is a century-old component of the Croton Aqueduct system, one of
America’s oldest and greatest engineering masterpieces. The reservoir is remarkable for its
stone structures, its Olmsted-inspired landscaping, its piace in the history of the Croton
System, and its role in the development of the Bronx. It should not be desecrated by a
filtration plant, but preserved as an historic treasure.

Anne Marie Garti
President
Jerome Park Conservancy
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Hlustration 1:

Hustration 2:

Jerome Park Reservoir viewed from a neighboring apartment building. (Photo by Sandra
Sider)

Pipe Vault Portal, an arched stone structure at the northwest comer of the lerome Park
Reservorr, leads to a passage through the reservoir embankment to Gate House No. 2




Gate House No. 2, Jerome Park Reservoir, inlet with

voussior arch .

Mustration 4

Gate House No. 5, Jerome Park Reservoir, mawmn entry

portal.

Illustration 3



Ilustration 3 Sholem Aleichem Houses, an historic apariment building overlooking the Jerome Park
Reservoir.

Dlustration 6:  Sedgwick Avenue, designed by Frederick Law Olmsted, landscape architect, borders the
western edge of the Jerome Park Reservoir.




JEROME PARK RESERVOIR AND THE HISTORY OF THE CROTON
WATERWORKS

A.

Water S of New York

Because the lower Hudson River is an estuary, the water is salty all around
Manbhattan Island and for many miles upstream, and is not suitable for drinking.
The early European settlers found adequate supplies of potable water from other
sources. Public wells and pumps existed in New York City from the 17th century,
and a major source of water was a pond called the Collect, where Foley Square is
today. The Collect, along with many of the wells, was hopelessly polluted by the
end of the 18th century.' The accelerating growth of the city’s population combined
with the failing water supply and the engineering difficulty of providing an adequate
public water supply system, caused decades of debate. The profession of civil
engineering was in its infancy in the United States, and there were no precedents in
North America for the type or scale of construction that would be required to divert
a river of pure water to the city.

[n 1798 the city adopted a plan for a municipal water supply system, an ingenious
scheme by Dr. Joseph Browne to divert the water of the Bronx River from a dam,
near where the Bronx Zoo is today, through a canal to the Harlem River, where a
water wheel would pump the water through a cast iron pipe to a reservoir on
Manhattan Island .2 (This plan was never executed.)

The enabling legislation of 1799 created the Manhattan Water Company, which was
led by Aaron Burr. Using this as a maneuver to obtain a bank charter, Burr spent as
little effort as possible providing water. The company (which eventually became the
Chase Manhattan Bank) abandoned the Bronx River plan in favor of creating a well
and small reservoir, holding only a fraction of the city’s daily nced. The system
was deficient in many ways: it used hollow logs rather than iron pipes, served only
the areas where service was profitable, and did not provide water for street cleaning
or fire fighting.?

' T. Schramke, Description of the New York Croton Aqueduct, 1846,

2 Edward Wegmann, The Water Supply of the City of New York 1658 -

1895, John Wiley & Sons, 1896, p.7

3 Jeffrey A. Kroessler, “Water for the City”, The Old Croton

Agueduct: Rural Resources Meet Urban Needs, The Hudson River Museum
of Westchester, 1992, pp.13, 14.



The city continued to be plagued by fires that consumed whole blocks, and
epidemics of yellow fever and other diseases that fed on poor sanitation. A terrible
cholera epidemic in 1832 spurred the city to take immediate steps to create a true
municipal water system.® There was disagreement on whether 1o use the Croton
River, the Bronx River, or another source for the city’s water. At the urging of
Alderman Myndert Van Shaick, a proponent of the Croton River, the Common
Council commissioned a study by civil engineer Colonel DeWitt Clinton, Jr., the
son of Governor Clinton, who concluded that the Croton would be the best source,
and developed a comprehensive plan.®

to ned

In 1833, a Board of Water Commissioners was appointed to plan a water supply
system. One of their engineers, Major David Bates Douglass, a hero of the War of
1812 and a West Point engineering professor, sided with Colonel Clinton in favor of
using the Croton River. Douglass became the chief engineer of the project,
overseeing the planning and design of the Qld Croton Aqueduct.® The
Commissioners replaced Douglass in 1836 with John B. Jervis, an engineer with
experience in canal and railroad construction. Jervis revised and compieted the
design, and oversaw the construction of the aqueduct. He, more than anyone else, is
credited with the final design of the Croton Aqueduct.’ Also involved as “..an
engineer and supervising architect,”® in design and production of drawings was the
young James Renwick, Jr., later the architect of St. Patrick’s Cathedral in
Manhartan, and the Riverdale Presbyterian Church and the Greyston villa in the
Bronx,

The great fire of 1835 created pressure 10 complete the work. Construction of the
Old Croton Aqueduct began in 1837, and it was ready to go into service within five
years, an unprecedented feat of organization. When it was complete, the masonry

“ F. Danie] Larkin, “Preliminary Plans for the Old Croton Aqueduct

and the Siructure of its Engineering Department”, The Old Croton Aqueduct:
Rural Resources Meet Urban Needs, The Hudson River Museum of
Westchester, 1992: p, 18.

’ Charles H. Weidner, Water for a City, Rutgers University Press,

1974, p. 28 - 31

¢ D. B. Douglass, Engineer’s Report, Report of the Commissioners. ..

Relative 10 Supplying the City of New York with Pure and Wholesome Water,
1833, pp. 381-408

? Larkin, pp. 18-20.
% James Richards, Who's Who in Architecture, Holt Reinhardt &

Winston, 1977, p. 267



aqueduct wound its way for more than 40 miles through forests, villages and cities
from a dam on the Croton River to two high-walled, rectangular reservoirs in
Manhattan, the Receiving Reservoir at Yorkhill (where the Great Lawn now is in
Central Park) and the Distributing Reservoir on Murray Hill (where the 42nd Street
Public Library is today).

Like the aqueducts of ancient Rome, the Old Croton Aqueduct was designed 1o rely
on gravity, and was built with a constant slope, which it maintains while the terrain
around it undulates. Because it was designed to be constructed by the cut and cover
method wherever possible, the aqueduct follows a course where the natural contours
are the closest to its gradient. Typically, the aqueduct is partially buried, borne on a
stone foundation, with a telltale mound running over it. With an earthen top and
banked stone-faced or sod-covered walls, this mound is the characteristic aqueduct
berm (Illustrations 7 and 8). The conduit itself is a horseshoe-arch-shaped stone and
brick tunnel. The aqueduct was built mostly by Irish immigrant laborers. The
Croton Aqueduct Trailway runs on top of the mnnel for most of its length, and is
used today for recreation and as 2 pedestrian facility.

Where the aqueduct crosses valleys it is carried on massive stone and earth
embankments. Streams and roads penetrate the embankment through vaulted culverts
{(IHustration 9); larger rivers were spanned by dramatic arched bridges. The most
famous, the High Bridge over the Harlem River was completed in 1848, six years
after the aqueduct itseif (Illustration 10). Cther above-ground stone structures
include picturesque tapered ventilator shafts (Hlustration 11), intended to keep the
water fresh, and weir buildings (Illustration 12), structures that allowed water to
waste and enabled the aqueduct to be drained. °* * "

Although a triumph of engineering and architecture, and a blessing for the city, the
construction of the new water system had a human toll as well. On January §,

1841, a heavy snow storm followed by days of torrential rain made the waters of the
Croton swell, setting off a collapse of the incomplete Croton Dam and sending a
wall of water and masses of ice crashing through the Croton Valley for three miles
to the Hudson River. The disaster took three lives, and destroyed nsmerous houses,
mills, factories, roads and bridges. The engineers reconstructed the dam with a
larger spillway, but did not restore the economic life of the Croton River below the

? John B. Jervis, Chief Engineer, Description of the Croton Aqueduct,
Stamm and Guion, 1842, pp. 12 - 14

'O Edward Wegmann, The Water Supply of the City of New York 1658 -
1895, John Wiley & Sons, 1896

""F. B. Tower, llustrations of the Croton Agueduct, 1843

3



dam. which, due to flood damage. was no longer deep enough to be navigable by
comumercial vessels.'* ¥

The pure, abundant water from the Croton Reservoir finally flowed inio the mains
of New York City on the Fourth of July, 1842. A great celebration was mounted,
with jubilant throngs, the ringing of church bells, firing of cannon, and a five-mile-
long parade. “Standing in front of the City Hall, with the fountain sending plumes
of Croton water fifty feet into the air, Governor Seward and Mayor Morris
addressed the crowd. Members of the New York Sacred Music Society stood by the
fountain and sang an ode written for the occasion.” "* The Croton system was hailed
around the world as an engineering masterpiece and the promenade along the
parapet of the Murray Hill Distributing Reservoir became a major tourist attraction,
especially when the Crystal Palace was located next door on the site of the present
Bryant Park. With a world-class water system at fast in place, the city was equipped
to become a modern metropolis.

C. Croton Waterworks Extension

New York’s population grew persistently faster than expected in the second half of
the 19th century, and the flow of Croton water that seemed so abundant in 1842
appeared insufficient only a few years later. The problem was iwofold: one issue
was the capacity of the aqueduct conduit; the other issue was the quantity and
qualjty of water available from the Croton River itself, particularly in years of
drought.

In 1849, the year after the High Bridge went into service, the Croton Aqueduct
Department was created. Its broad responsibilities extended to the building of
sewers and paving of streets, but its central purpose was 10 operate and maintain the
waterworks. To solve the first part of the water supply problem, they could
accommodate increased demand for quite a few years simply by increasing the flow
of water in the aqueduct, which had been designed with substantial overcapacity.
The other part of the problem, controlling the volume and quality of the river water
itself, required a stratecy 1o increase storage capacity throughout the system. All of
the changes required to improve the system, and to allow it to evolve 10 meet new
demands and to incorporate improvements and new components, came to be
categorized as the Crolon Waterworks Extension.

2 Jervis, pp.15, 16
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In 1857 and 1858 a topographical survey of Croton Valley in northern Westchester
and Putnam Counties was performed to identify suitable points for storage reservoirs
along the three branches of the Croton River. This watershed covered an area
ranging nearly from the Hudson River to the Connecticut border, and upstream from
the Old Croton Dam for close to fifty miles'>.

The storage reservoirs were to be artificial lakes formed by damming the Croton
River and its tributaries at strategic locations. This technique had been used to
create the Old Croton Reservoir. The 1850's plan, which envisioned fourteen
storage reservoirs, designated A through O, was carried out nearly as planned
between 1866 and 1911. This system, with its picturesque hightand lake landscapes,
and majestic stone and earth dams, is still operating today.

This plan was a marriage of engineering and ecology. It eventually created a
controlled water chain along the Croton’s three main branches and principal
tributaries, with storage reservoirs controlling the flow of water through spillways in
the dams back into the river to maximize storage capacity and supplement the
volume in drought conditions. There were also several natural lakes whose water
could be drawn if needed. At the Croton Reservoir, the final lake in the upstate
system, water would enter the aqueduct to the city. The Croton Agueduct
Department and successor agencies took great pride in maintaining the cleanliness
and ecological health of the Croton Watershed, and were roundly criticized when
critics felt that they were neglecting this task.

The New Central Park Receiving Reservoir at Yorkhili, built from 1858 to 1863,
was the first major project of the Croton Waterworks Extension. Unlike the original
Receiving Reservoir, it was planned with the knowledge that the park was being
developed:

“Its curvilinear shape is largely due to the persuasiveness of the man who
was then the engineer of the new Park, Anton Viele. Viele argued that the
new reservoir should not be rectangular like the old one but should have a
more graceful and natural form. In spite of this aesthetic gesture, the
Reservoir posed problems for the designers Olmsted and Vaux. It filled so
much of the Park from side to side that it was a virtual barrier to north-south
traffic.”®

'* Annual Report of the Croton Aqueduct Department Made to the
Common Council of the City of New York for the Year 1858, January 3, 1859

' Elizabeth Barlow Rogers, Rebuilding Central Park, the Central Park
Conservancy, MIT Press, 1987, p. 106



The naturalistic form of the New Central Park Reservoir is reminiscent of artificial
lakes such as the original Croton Reservoir and the new storage reservoirs that were
being planned in the Croton Valley. Begun only fifieen years after the completion
of the earlier reservoirs, it represented a change in design philosophy. Unlike the
earlier rectangular reservoirs that had been intended to fill city blocks, new urban
reservoirs could be integrated into park landscaping, and be enjoyed for scenic
views and recreation:

“According to the contemporary historian Clarence Cook, the pedestrian
walkway around the Reservoir provided an ‘admirable constitutional” in the
early days of the Park. It afforded a fine breeze, dancing waves and a setting
for beautiful sunsets. Three cast iron bridges...were built to carry
pedestrians over the Bridle Trail to the walkway.” "’

The second major project of the Croton Waterworks Extension, starting in 1861,
was the addition of a large wrought iron main to the High Bridge to upgrade its
capacity. The height of the walls and cornice was increased, and the bridge was
roofed with a brick vault for its entire length. This work was completed in 1863.

The following year iron railings were installed on the bridge and Bronx High Bridge
park was terraced and landscaped.’® From the start the system had been viewed as a
scenic attraction by the public, and the High Bridge continued to rank among the
city’s top tourist attractions.

Plans for commencing other major new projects were delayed by the Civil War,

The High Bridge Reservoir and Tower (IHlustration 13) were constructed from 1866
to 1873 10 serve the growing population of upper Manhattan’s heights, known as
Carmansville, and nearby areas that were above the head of the existing aqueduct
and reservoirs.”® The steam-powered pumping engines of that day were not reliable
and the reservoir and tower were required to make service continuous.” The tower
had essentially the same function as the reservoir, but served a higher elevation.

The High Bridge Reservoir was the last of the rectangular reservoirs of the Croton
System.

' Rogers, pp. 106, 107
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The Croton Agueduct Department was taken over by the Department of Public
Works in 1870. The significance of the water supply system, along with the road-
paving and sewer operations, was immediately recognized by the first Commissioner
of Public Works, William Marcy Tweed, who harnessed it for his bold schemes of
malfeasance and racketeering.

In the Department of Public Works Annual Report of 1870/71 Commissioner Tweed
wrote that, “The very large amount of labor which has fallen to the charge of the
Chief Engineer of the Croton Aqueduct is apparent upon reference to his
voluminous report.”?' In fact, the “voluminous report” written by Chief Engineer
Edward H. Tracey had only about ten pages that vaguely described the works
currently underway along with twenty-nine pages of filler, which consisted of a
thirty-year-old description of the system written by Jervis. This filler was inserted
abruptly and awkwardly in Tracey's text, most likely at the insistence of Tweed.
While the Annual Report looks like a normal, orderly bureaucratic document, it
glosses over a binge of spending that drew the city to the verge of insolvency.

Tweed relied on the reputation of the Croton Aqueduct Department and its
engineering feats. For example, he recalled their 1869 work on the regrading of 5th
Avenue in Manhattan, where they lowered two 36-inch iron mains four feet into a
rock-cut while water was flowing through them, to avoid interrupting service.”

The corrupt administration of the Croton Waterworks under Tweed fundamentally
shook the faith of the public; this damage has never been fully erased. It ended an
era of innocence during which there had been absolute confidence in the motives and
honesty of the administrators and engineers of the system, who were entrusted with
decisions concerning the vast works and huge outlays of public money that are
inherent to the supply of water for great cities. It also began a schism between the
engineers of the former Croton Aqueduct Department and their new masters, whose
primary interest was in controlling the flow of money rather than water.

Boyd’s Corners Reservoir (Reservoir E) was the first of the storage reservoirs to be
constructed in the watershed. Located in Putnam County it was built between 1866
and 1874 on the West Branch of the Croton River near Fahnstock State Park. It was
in the midst of this project that the Department of Public Works took over the
Croton Waterworks.

The distaste for the new regime was often expressed subtly, as in the statement by
1.J.R. Croes, the Resident Engineer for the construction of Boyd’s Corners
Reservoir, criticizing the workmanship of an embankment, “‘It was built by

2 William M. Tweed, Annual Report of Commission of Public Works
of the City of New York for the Year 1870-71,p. 9

2 Tweed, p. 9



contract, and not rolled or thoroughly rammed, but merely carted over.’...In stating
‘it was built by contract,” Croes is alluding to the fact that...the city’s engineers had
little or no discretionary power over contractors to insure good work. Under Tweed
rule, contracts were awarded subject to stipulated kickbacks or commissions:
contractors could slight their work with impunity...”*

The Middle Branch Reserveir (Reservoir G) (llustration 15), also in Putnam
County, was the next to be constructed, from 1874 to 1879. Twenty years after the
initial storage reservoir plan, only two of the reservoirs along the Croton River had
been completed, and both of those had relatively small watersheds. Still, it was the
aqueduct conduit itself that became the critical bottleneck in the system. By the
mid-1870"s it was clear that the Old Croton Aqueduct could not continue for long to
provide a sufficient water supply for the rapidly growing city.

The Old Croton Aqueduct was already operating well beyond its planned capacity.
The aqueduct was modified in 1875 to allow a higher water level by the addition of
one or more rings of brick over the top arch. Tests of the aqueduct at 103 million
gatlons per day (mgd) had “disastrous results” and it was decided that 95 mgd was
the maximum allowable capacity.” It was felt that conservation measures to curtail
waste, such as metering, would only postpone the inevitable. Additional supply
would be required as the aqueduct had finally reached its limit.

Debate over the future of the water supply system was vigorous in the late-1870's
and early 1880's. Benjamin S. Church, who had been in charge of the Old Croton
Aqueduct since 1861, presented a paper before the American Society of Civil
Engineers (ASCE) in 1876. He pointed out design flaws in the Old Croton
Aqueduct that were leading to settlement of stone foundations, structural failures and
leaking at the embankments (sloping stone-clad earthworks that braced the agueduct
at valley crossings and hillsides) of which there were about five miles total. While
he had great admiration for the work of Jervis and Douglass, Church believed that
the aqueduct had yet to be perfected, and that, with no other large scale source of
water, shutdowns for repair work would inevitably become disastrous interruptions
of the city’s water supply.?

At the ASCE meeting, one of Jervis’s former students questioned Church’s
structural analysis and staunchly defended the original design, but there was no
disputing Church’s records and abservations. In his many years at the helm,

¥ Weidner, p. 62
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Church had overseen a huge volume of work in maintaining and restoring the Old
Croton Aqueduct. Routine, minor leaks were remedied with a mixture of sawdust,
sand and clay that was poured into the water upstream of the leak, and flowed down
and plugged the leak from the inside. There were also many conditions that
required substantial masonry repairs. In 1866 alone, for example, Church
supervised the reconstruction of an arched culvert over a roadway north of
Tarrytown and the repair of more than 4,800 feet of fissures in stone retaining
walls.*

There had also been a nearly catastrophic breach of the aqueduct in Fordham,
approximately two miles north of the High Bridge in what was then southern
Westchester, and some sections of berm washed out near Ossining in storms.

One of Church’s concerns was that every time repairs were necessary, the water
supply had to be shut off at the dam at Croton Lake, and the whole length of the
aqueduct drained, because the original valve system in the weir buildings did not
allow the flow of the aqueduct to be diverted at an individual weir. The weirs as
originally built could only drain the water passively through side openings, a design
that some critics in the 1870's denounced as short-sighted and even perceived as the
Achilles” heel of Jervis’s design. The draining and refilling of the whole aqueduct
added about 48 hours to the time required for repairs, so that even a small amount
of masonry work inside the conduit would impact service. This was especially true
because, by the late 1870's, only the top few feet of water in the city’s reservoirs
had sufficient head to provide adequate pressure to the increasing stock of taller
buildings.

Church planned improvements in the design of the Old Croton Aqueduct. One was
the provision of cross-valves at each of the waste weirs to divert water so that
individual divisions of the aqueduct could be drained for repairs without shutting
down and refilling the whole system. Starting in 1881, the waste weirs were
modified (it may have surprised the neighbors to realize that the quiet streams in
their back yards could be transformed instantly into 95 mgd torrents). The waste
weir in Ossining was reconstructed at a new location, rather than being modified
like the others, so that the water could drain more directly into the Sing-Sing Kill.
The Ossining weir retained the architectural style of the existing weirs of the Old
Croton Aqueduct.”

Another issue was providing a water supply for the 23rd and 24th Wards of New
York City, territory annexed from Westchester in 1874 that would later become part
of the Borough of the Bronx. Under the jurisdiction of the Department of Public

% Annual Report of the Croton Aqueduct Department ... for the Year
1866, 1867, pp. 8,9
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Parks, Frederick Law Olmsted and }. J. R. Croes were retained to create a
comprehensive city plan for the new wards.?® While some groups felt that water
from the Bronx River should be tapped for the new wards, reserving the Croton
water for Manhattan, the Common Council passed an act, in May, 1875, calling for
the distribution of Croton water in the areas to be developed in the newly acquired
territory. Within a year mains were being laid from the Croton Aqueduct in the
new wards.” This was the same year that it was first decided that a reservoir should
be constructed at Jerome Park at the junction of the Old Croton Aqueduct and a new
aqueduct. Work on this project was postponed indefinitely due to the condition of
the city’s finances, which had been weakened by the spending spree of Tweed and
his cronies.*®

In 1879 work began on a new aqueduct, unrelated to the Croton: the Bronx and
Byram water system. In 1884 the Bronx River Pipeline went into service, and the
new Williams Bridge Reservoir in the Bronx was completed in 1889.7

The Bronx and Byram water system is reported to have been a product of ongoing
Tammany Hall influence, constructed by the Department of Public Works under a
revived Tweed Act. The project was attacked repeatedly by the Union League Club
(of which Church and Olmsted were members). An 1882 report stated that if a new
aqueduct was required, “...one from the Croton would doubtless have been sefected
in lieu of the one from the Bronx. The selection of the latter must now be regarded
as an official mistake not likely to have been made by a body of intelligent
Commissioners.”*

Construction of the Bronx and Byram system was ordered by Commissioner of
Public Works Allan Campbell, whom the Union League Club report called an
ungualified “party politician” whose confirmation to office allegedly had been
secured by payments from construction interests in anticipation of lucrative city
contracts.” According to Campbell, his decision was based on estimated costs for
the Bronx and Byram system of $3 million as compared to $12 million for a new
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aqueduct from the Croton. In the end, the Bronx and Byram project cost about 35
million* and contributed a meager 15 mgd.*

The Old Croton Aqueduct, which was originally intended to have a capacity of 72
mgd, was operating at its maximum of 95 mgd. The New Croton Aqueduct, when
complete, could operate at 2 maximum of 300 mgd.

W uct Commissione

Even before the small contribution of the Bronx River Pipe Line of the Bronx and
Byram system was brought on-line, it was obvious that plans for a new aqueduct
from the Croton could not be delayed for long. What was less clear was who would
design and build it, the Department of Public Works or a new organization, perhaps
guided by an old Croton hand such as Benjamin S. Church.

In April, 1881, Isaac Newton, Chief Engineer of Water Works for the Department
of Public Works, presented a special report to the Commissioner of Public Works,
Hubert O. Thompson, supporting the case for an additional aqueduct from the
Croton River.*

Cynicism prevailed among the city’s elite, and it was said of the proposed New
Croton Aqueduct that, “...such a work would greatly exceed the expense of the one
we have, and besides that its construction would not be controlled by the faithful
engineers who were on the work originally, and still remain with it, but it would
come into modern hands. The present aqueduct was built long before frauds were
common in city affairs.”?” Groups such as the Union League Club lobbied to limit
the authority of the Department of Public Works, and to have the new works
planned comprehensively, designed and constructed by a newly formed commission
appointed by the Governor.

Several years of severe drought spurred action on a comprehensive plan. Criticism
was leveled at the choice of storage reservoirs constructed to date in the Croton
Valley, and the pace of the program. More than twenty years after the 1858 plan,
only two storage reservoirs had been constructed in the watershed. It was felt that
the East Branch and Bog Brook (Double Reservoir I) should be started immediately.

¥ Wegmann, pp. 90, 91, 93
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Advocates of an additional aqueduct from the Croton River cited the tremendous
volume of water passing over the Croton Dam unused.

In 1883 the Aqueduct Commissioners were appointed, and they immediately
undertook the design and construction of the new aqueduct and other additions to the
Croton system. Church was appointed as Chief Engineer. With his immense
knowledge of the existing system, he was the mastermind of the New Croton
Aqueduct. This link partly explains the family resemblance between the structures
of the two Croton Aqueducts.

The Aqueduct Commissioners’ plan generally called for additional storage reservoirs
and dams in the watershed, a new Croton Dam that would raise the water level,
increasing the size and capacity of the Croton Reservoir, a new receiving and
distributing reservoir located along the Oid Croton Aqueduct in northern New York
City (Jerome Park), and a new aqueduct conduit from the existing Croton Reservoir
more-or-less due south to Jerome Park and then on to Central Park. This differed
from Newton’s proposed plan: Newton also proposed a new dam, but the proposed
new aqueduct would start at the new dam and paraliel the route of the Old Croton
Aqueduct pear the Hudson River. Also, the Newton plan did pot include additional
new Storage reservoirs outside of the enlarged Croton Reservoir.

Department of Public Works Commissioner Thompson, an ex officio Aqueduct
Commissioner, supported the building of Newton’s version, and wrote that the
plan, “was submitted for examination to Mr. John B. Jervis, the designer and
builder of the Croton Aqueduct...(who) examined the whole subject for himself and
approved of the plans proposed by the Department as the best system.”*® Thompson
was critical of the concepts put forward by reformers, and stated that construction of
the East Branch/Bog Brook Reservoir, a rallying point of DPW critics, would be
unnecessary if the new Croton Dam were built.

Thompson also claimed that a new design was not necessary for the East Branch
dam, because it was almost a facsimile of the Middle Branch dam, and went on to
point out that the construction of Reservoir I was recommended by the department
many years earlier (this reference to the 1858 survey fails to distinguish that it had
been performed prior to the takeover by the Department of Public Works). It is
clear that Thompson was not pleased to have control of the work taken away from
his department.

* Hubert O. Thompson, “Report of Commissioner of Public Works
to the Aqueduct Commission upon Plans, etc. for New Aqueduct, etc. Aug.
8, 1883", from Aqueduct Commission, Report to the Aqueduct
Commissioners, 1887, p. 56
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Many issues were discussed at public hearings, including whether to follow the
Hudson or the inland route, where land acquisition costs would be lower, as Church
wanted. Another subject was whether to run the New Croton Aqueduct across the
High Bridge, a new bridge or bridges, or through a tunnel. In most matters Church
prevailed, and his vision shaped the future of the Croton system, although he
apparently compromised his position in respects to achieve consensus. For example,
he agreed that the East Branch Reservoir was not necessary immediately if the New
Croton Dam was to be built.

After his many years of faithful service as Resident Engineer of the Old Croton
Aqueduct, Church’s career and renown surged. In 1886, for example, when the
offices of the Aqueduct Commissioners were closed, “...in honor of the celebration
of the inauguration and unveiling of the Bartholdi Statue of Liberty...the Chief
Engineer was directed to extend to the engineers, artists and guests from France
attending the inauguration...an invitation to examine the plans and visit the works of
the New Croton Aqueduct.”*

The New Croton Aqueduct began construction in 1885 and went into service in 1850
(Illustration 16). It is a remarkable structure, a vintage stone and brick masonry
aqueduct, still intact, and fully operational today. The New Croton Aqueduct is
similar to the old in many respects, and its design can be seen as Church’s

perfection of the technology of the Old Croton Aqueduct. It is a masonry conduit
with a horseshoe-shaped section, although it has about three times the area and
capacity of the Old Croton Aqueduct (Illustration 17). It is a gravity tunnel for
approximately twenty-four miles from the Croton Lake Gate House, which is
adjacent to the Oid Croton Dam, to Gate House No. 1 of the Jerome Park

Reservoir, which is located a short distance north of the reservoir in Van Cortiandt

Park.

Although the Jerome Park Reservoir was indicated as “proposed” on the 1887 map
of the system, it was part of the original design and the New Croton Aqueduct was
configured to anticipate its construction. South of Gate House No. 1, the New
Croton Aqueduct drops beneath the Jerome Park Reservoir and continues as a round
masonry tunnel under pressure beneath the Harlem River (Iliustration 18) to the
Terminal Gate House at 135th Street in Manhattan.

To maximize the amount of water available to the system, the designers included
weep holes in portions of the horseshoe tunnel to allow ground water to enter the
system. The holes, termed “weepers” were 4 inch x 8 inch openings through the

* James C. Spencer, “Report of the President”, from Aqueduct
Commission, Report 10 the Aqueduct Commissioners, 1887, p. 20
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brick tunnel wall, spaced 20 feet on center. At the time, the “weepers” provided an
additional 4 mgd to the water flowing from the Croton Lake Gate House. *

Whereas the Old Croton Agueduct had been built predominantly at grade by the cut
and cover method, with tunnels or tall embankments used where necessary to
maintain the required gradient, the New Croton Aqueduct was tunneled for most of
its length, giving it much greater protection from frost damage and other sources of
weathering and damage. At those areas where the hydraulic grade met the surface
grade, such as Pocantico, Ardsley, and South Yonkers, the Agueduct
Commissioners designed blow-off and waste weir structures reminiscent of those of
the Old Croton Aqueduct (Itlustration 19). At the Harlem river an impressive
complex was created at Shaft No. 25, on the Manhattan side of the aqueduct tunnel,
overlooking the Speedway (now the Harlem River Drive), a few hundred yards
north of the High Bridge. Still remaining at Shaft No. 25 is a monumental retaining
wall and stair, with a symbolic horseshoe-arched portal (Illustration 20).

Aqueduct Comsmnissioners Reports were issued covering the periods from 1883 to
1887, 1887 to 1895, and 1895 to 1907. The reports were lavishly illustrated by the
Draughting Bureau. Under the direction of Frederick S. Cook, C.E., Assistant
Engineer, the Drafting Burean designed and produced working drawings for the
New Croton Aqueduct, the storage reservoirs and dams, the New Croton Dam, and
the Jerome Park Reservoir. Cook has been attributed as designer of the Terminal
Gate House at 135th Street, a New York City Landmark, by the Landmarks
Preservation Commission.*’ He was equally the designer of the other works of the
Aqueduct Commissioners.

The drawings included in the 1887 and 1895 reports were of exceptional quality
(Hllustrations 21 and 22}, and were signed by the delineators. The finest were by
Charles Gustafson, Charles Manning, and Giuseppe Bonanno, draftsmen, and Jean
Genthon, topographical drafisman. These draftsman were also the designers of the
system, under the direction of the Chief Engineer, Consulting Engineers and F. S.
Cook.

Church, as Chief Engineer, wrote in 1887, “Mr. F. S. Cook, Special Assistant, in
charge of the draughting bureau, has not only directed the execution of accurate
drawing for the dams and contract plans for the Aqueduct and designs for the Gate

“® Wegmann, p 126

* Andrew S. Dolkart, Guide to New York City Landmarks, New York
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House Superstructures, but he supervised the numerous detailed working plans
required with marked ability.”*

Work from 1883 to 1887 consisted largely of the top priority item, creating the new
aqueduct and its ancillary structures. Storage reservoirs in the watershed were
designed, but not yet constructed. Two large, complex projects, the New Croton
Dam and the Jerome Park Reservoir, were planned at this time, but were not
constructed. The dam was bogged down from the start in a myriad of hearings and
special commissions, and the reservoir had not yet been funded.

Both the dam and Jerome Park were suited for construction after the New Croton
Aqueduct was in service, because they both involved reconstructing and realigning
portions of the Old Croton Aqueduct. At the New Croton Dam, the Old Croton
Aqueduct would be realigned to pass through Gate House No. 1 of the new dam. At
Jerome Park, the Old Croton Aqueduct would be incorporated into the original
dividing wall, which is now the east basin wall along Goulden Avenue, and the
principal gate houses.

Church’s star began to fade during the construction of the New Croton Aqueduct.
In 1886 he was charged with improprieties by a construction inspector. A panel
acquitted him on all counts.* It seems that Church was making spontaneous field
decisions to expedite the project rather than engaging in corruption. It also appears
that he was overwhelmed by the unprecedented scale of the project, and the lack of
honest and qualified inspectors. He was also unprepared for the brazen
deceptiveness of the contractors, who did such things as concealing giant voids
behind false walls before inspectors arrived. In 1888 rumors of extensive defective
work proved true and caused major headlines. Church resigned as Chief Engineer.

Church was replaced by Alphonse Fieley, who had been Consuiting Engineer.
Church assumed the title of Consulting Engineer until 1889, when that position was
abolished. Church, by this time had lost the support of reformist critics as well, and
a group called the Committee of Twenty-One from the Union League Club railed
against him for having signed on to Newton’s Quaker Bridge (New Croton Dam)
plan at the expense of building the East Branch storage reservoir. They also
ridiculed the endorsement of Jervis (then in his late 80's) and others, pointing out
that they had no experience with high masonry dams.

4 Aqueduct Commission, Report to the Aqueduct Commissioners, 1883
- 1887, 1887, p 54

3 Charges against Chief Engineer 1886 - Report of Examining
Engineers John Newton, George S. Greene and Q.A. Gilmore on the Charges
Preferred against the Chief Engineer of the Aqueduct Commission, 1886
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The work of the period from 1887 to 1895 inciuded completion of the new
aqueduct, which went into service in 1890, and accelerated design and construction
of dams and storage reservoirs in the watershed. Construction began on the East
Branch dam in 1888 (Illustration 23), followed soon by the Carmel, Amawalk and
Titicus (Illustration 24) dams. The Titicus was a precursor of the New Croton
Dam. Design work on the New Croton Dam and Jerome Park Reservoir were
intensive during this period.

Construction began on the New Croton Dam in the early 1890's. It would be ready
to go into service in 1906 (Illustrations 25 and 26}, more than thirty years after the
initial proposal. The dam was the largest masonry dam in the world when it was
built. It had undergone a long design process for both social and technical reasons.
An expert panel, consisting of J. J. R. Croes, J. P. Davis and William F. Shunk,
was assembled in 1888 to study the size, shape and location of the dam. Local
activism challenged the original siting of the dam at Quaker Bridge.

Numerous dam sites were studied (Illustration 27), and the Cornell site further
upstream was finally selected in 1891. Technical issues also lengthened the design
time for the enormous dam, particularly as the deadly collapse of the first Croton
Dam in 1841 was still within living memory. Completed sections of masonry-core
earthen dam (the type of construction that had failed in 1841) were removed and
replaced with solid masonry, partly to reassure local communities. Sections of
porous masonry and improper work, which made local headlines, were also
replaced.

The New Croton Dam and the Jerome Park Reservoir were both subject to labor
disputes, and work on both projects ground to a halt during a union-led strike in
1900. There had been labor unrest during the construction of both aqueducts, but
this strike caused great concern. According to local lore in Croton, Teddy
Roosevelt, who was then Governor of New York, led his Rough Riders to Croton.
The Cavalry was established at the dam site in “Camp Roosevelt”. Fifieen bundred
National Guardsman of the 7th Regiment commanded by Major General Charles
Roe rode to Croton Station by train and marched to the dam.

In spite of all the delays and struggles, the works of the Aqueduct Commissioners
are distinctive in appearance. The dams of the Croton Watershed and the New
Croton Dam, along with the the Jerome Park Reservoir and the New Croton
Aqueduct, are architectural siblings. In 1846, Schramke had called the Old Croton
Aqueduct, “...that noble monument of hydraulic architecture,”* and the works of
the Aqueduct Commissioners continued and built on that tradition.

“ D Alvia, pp. 127 - 135
45 Schramke, Dedication
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The Jerome Park Reservoir

The engineers, such as Church, who operated the Old Croton Aqueduct, had always
known the topography of the entire route, and when they considered sites for a
storage reservoir on the mainiand near Manhattan Island, Jerome Park was an
obvious choice. When that portion of southern Westchester was annexed to the city
and became part of the 24th Ward, Jerome Park was clearly the most suitable site
for a large new reservoir along the Old Croton Aqueduct, within the city limits,
particularly in light of a second aqueduct conduit.

The Jerome Park Reservoir was first formally recommended in 1875, when
Commissioner of Public Works Gen. Fitz John Porter ordered a survey. According
to Edward Wegmann, “Two routes... were surveyed, commencing a guarter of a
mile below the head of Croton Lake and terminating near Jerome Park, where it was
proposed 10 construct a large receiving reservoir. Nothing more was done towards
constructing this work.”* (It was after this that the next Commissioner decided that
the Bronx and Byram System should be constructed instead.)

The planning of the Jerome Park Reservoir began simultaneously with the
comprehensive city plan of the 23rd and 24th Wards designed by Frederick Law
Olmsted, Landscape Architect and J. J. R Croes, Civil and Topographical Engineer,
who performed this design work for the Department of Public Parks. Their street
plans were adopted by the city in 1877 and 1878, and subsequently construcied in
large part.”’

An Olmsted job number has been assigned to Jerome Park by the editors of the
Frederick Law Olmsted Papers. There are also numerous sketches and studies of
the 23rd and 24th Wards that may be relevant to the design of the reservoir and the
surrounding community. The Jerome Park Conservancy is currently researching this
data to determine if Olmsted actually created the schematic design of the reservoir in
addition to designing the adjacent streets. We do not yet know what role Olmsted or
Croes played in the design of the reservoir.

The plans of the reservoir (prepared by the Aqueduct Commissioners in the 1880's
and 90's) show the unmistakable influence of Olmsted, and may have been based on
a preliminary design by him. Olmsted and Croes were surely aware that a reservoir
would eventualiy be built on the site.

Croes had an extensive engineering career in the Croton Aqueduct Department: he
took over preparation of drawings for the New Central Park Receiving Reservoir in

“ Wegman, p. 90

*? Refer to Section I1.C of this report for a more extensive discussion
of the Olmsted and Croes plan.
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1860,* was Resident Engineer for the High Bridge improvements starting in 1862, ¥
and was in charge of construction of the Boyd’s Corners Reservoir and dam, which
was completed in 1874.%

Croes had recently overseen the completion of the Boyd's Corners Reservoir when
he and Olmsted began the surveys and studies for their comprehensive plan of the
23rd and 24th Wards. The start of their survey work was roughly contemporary
with the water supply survey that identified Jerome Park as the intended reservoir
location in 1875.

Church was a familiar figure to both Croes and Qlmsted because of their work in
Central Park. Olmsted and Church were club-mates at the Union League Club.
Croes was a colleague and admirer of Church’s: the copy of Church’s Nozes and
Suggestions on the Croton Water Works and Supply for the Future, from 1876, in
the collection of the New York Public Library, was donated by Croes, with a note,
“With the compliments of J. James R. Croes, Civil and Topographical Engineer
Department of Public Parks, NYC.” Croes would also go on to join 2 committee of
experts to review the design issues of the New Croton Aqueduct, particularly with
regard to design of the new dam.

The Olmsted and Croes 1877 plan of the Jerome Park Reservoir vicinity shows the
race track but does not indicate the reservoir.’' Being an adopted plan for
construction, it could not indicate proposed or future elements. However, the plan
essentially blocks out territory for the reservoir, bounded by Sedgwick Avenue to
the west, Kingsbridge Road to the south, Jerome Avenue to the East, and what
would become Mosholu Parkway and Van Cortlandt Park to the north. They also
removed the existing Old Boston Road from across the site. This open area is
reflected in the Map of Location and Environs published by the Aqueduct
Commissioners in 1895 (Iliustration 28). The detailed design of the reservoir was
produced by the Aqueduct Commissioners during the years that the Olmsted and
Croes street plan was under construction all around it, and it is likely that their
guidance was sought.

The Jerome Park Reservoir was not included in the recommendations for a new
aqueduct in the report of Isaac Newton, Chief Engineer of the Croton Aqueduct
(under the Department of Public Works) in 1882. Its necessity was supported in the

“ Wegmann, p. 71
* Wegmann, p. 73
* Wegmann, p. 79

*! Adopted Map D No. 23, Dept. Of Public Parks, Plan of Streets,
Roads and Avenues Lying West of Jerome Avenue and South of the Road
from Mosholu to Williams-Bridge, in the Twenty-fourth Ward, 1877
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report of W. E. Worthen, C. E., who was subpoenaed by the Aqueduct
Commissioners to testify at a public hearing in early 1884. Worthen wrote that,
“No provision has been made in the Quaker Bridge plans for additional storage
reservoirs within the city limits. .. This is the fundamental error of the project.” **

The decision to build the Jerome Park Reservoir was reached by the Aqueduct
Commissioners in early 1884, soon after their appointment. It was not yet known
when the site would be obtained or the funding approved.® The first objective was
the completion of the New Croton Aqueduct conduit.

The purpose in constructing the Jerome Park Reservoir was to create a storage and
distributing reservoir along both the Old and New Aqueducts. It would provide
water to the city if either or both of the Aqueducts had to be shut off for repairs.
Also, it would provide local supply in the area of the 23rd and 24th Wards,
According to Church, “80 to 100 million gallons were reserved for the Twenty-third
and Twenty-fourth Wards,”> a more generous plan than the 15 million delivered by
the Bronx River Pipe Line. An examination and surveys for a Receiving and
Distributing Reservoir at Jerome Park were performed in 1885.%

Church pushed for immediate construction of the Jerome Park Reservoir, believing
that the city’s water supply was in danger of serious interruption until it was
completed. The project was delayed due to the opinion of Newton that it would not
be needed for at least ten years.

The schematic representation of the Jerome Park Reservoir shown in the system map
of 1887 shows a curvilinear form reminiscent of the New Central Park Reservoir.
The location and environs plan published by the Aqueduct Commissioners in the
1895 report (Iflustration 28) has a similar but revised form, and is completely
integrated with the Olmsted and Croes street plan, including two “Proposed New
Avenues”, Reservoir Avenue (from Sedgwick Avenue east and south to
Kingsbridge Road) and the Sedgwick Avenue North {from Van Cortlandt Avenue
West northeast to Goulden Avenue).

2 W. E. Worthen, “Report of W. E. Worthen, C. E. on the Projected

Reservoir and Aqueduct for ‘The Additional Water-Supply of New York
City.’", 1884

53 Wegmann, p. 209
** Benjamin S. Church, Report of Chief Engineer, Aqueduct

Commission, Report to the Aqueduct Commissioners, 1887, p. 43

* Benjamin S. Church, Report of Chief Engineer, Aqueduct

Commission, Report to the Aqueduct Commissioners, 1887, p. 48, 49

% Aqueduct Commission, Report to the Aqueduct Commissioners, 1887

- 1895, 1895, pp. 37, 38
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